29 June 2005

DRAFT

TO:

ManTech International Audit Committee

FROM:
George J. Pedersen



Chairman of the Board & CEO

SUBJ:

Forthcoming Proposal to NATO/Afghanistan – 

Long-Term SatCom Services

We have been pursuing business with NATO since the acquisition of the ACS group in February ’04.  This organization now called ManTech Command Control Systems Division of ManTech Space Systems is headquartered in the Boston area.  The organization is managed by Roger Goudreau and his deputy, Dan Vallee.  They report to Jay Kelley as President of our Space Systems subsidiary.

We were briefed this morning by Jay Kelley and Roger Goudreau on an opportunity with NATO to provide long-term SatCom Services, primarily in Afghanistan.  The estimated contract value is $70 Million (Euro) or approximately $85 Million (US).  It is estimated that the first 3 years of the program, which involves primarily hardware, will generate revenue of $47 Million (Euro) which is $57 Million (US) and the option years which primarily involve continuity of services will generate a value of $23 Million (Euro) which is $28 Million  (US).

The primary concern with this contract is that the customer requires a Firm Fixed Price bid.  NATO customarily awards to Low Bid because of the politics involved with all of the NATO nations.  We are very interested in this program and the follow-on, and NATO is interested in us because of our extensive experience in installing and operating communications systems of a similar type in Afghanistan.  They also like the fact that we have and will have a continuing presence in country.  

The key issue here is risk and that is why we are asking the Audit Committee for input. We also wish to make the Board aware of our potential involvement in this program.  The formal solicitation has been issued, our personnel have attended a pre-award presentation in Brussels and the RFP indicates that the proposals will be required on or about 1 September, but that may be extended.  NATO contemplates award during the 4th Quarter of 2005.  

Jay Kelley and Roger Goudreau presented the enclosed briefing to Corporate management this morning.  It is clear that they have gathered a good team, and they have personal prior experience dealing with NATO.  We have retained, as a consultant, an individual who crafted the RFP for NATO and other individuals who have extensive experience in this arena (there is no conflict of interest).  Gene Renzi and others are familiar with some of the key NATO executives at the General level and NATO is aware of Gene’s work in Afghanistan.  

This will be a competitive procurement.  We will be up against large American and European firms.  We were informed that NATO puts a requirement for a Bid Bond in their RFPs to eliminate some of the small firms from the newer NATO countries that are part of the former Soviet Union.  Experience has shown, over the past year, that these small firms tend to low bid on the basis of a lower wage base in their countries.  We do not believe that this procurement lends itself to that bidding environment as the dollar value and the Bid Bond requirement may preclude these small firms from bidding but, nevertheless, price will be the determining factor.  

The key issue and our request to you is for your advice and ideas of how to limit the liability in connection with this bid?  Some of the concepts that we contemplated are basic.  We will set up a subsidiary corporation, probably in Brussels, and we will bid out of this Corporate entity (Corporate Shield) without a ManTech International guarantee.  We are searching for a European law firm knowledgeable in NATO procurement as well as a retired or knowledgeable negotiator who has experience as an employee of NATO or a firm doing business with NATO.  In addition to the fact that it is Firm Fixed Price, the contract also contains a Liquidated Damages Clause.  We are told they have never invoked this clause.  It also has a requirement for the Performance Bond previously indicated, the details of which we don’t yet have.  There are issues pertaining to the security of our workforce as they enter Afghanistan.  We are insisting that security be provided by NATO, and we believe that may not be their plan.  We are assuming transportation will be provided by NATO and that also is a question.
The largest contractual issue is how do we define completion.  Our preliminary concept is to bid this as a Level-of-Effort contract since it is primarily a service-type contract after the hardware is delivered.  We would bid Level-of-Effort and condition our Fixed Price offering based upon delivering X number of manhours devoted to a specific task or contract item.  We would base our hardware offering on a pre-determined configuration with a precise detailed equipment and materiel list.  This is a Rack and Stack effort that does not require the development of new interface systems or software.  Completion would, by our definition, therefore be defined based upon delivery of X amount of manhours and a defined hardware system installed at numerous sites in Afghanistan.  

Another approach to reducing risk would be to attempt to negotiate a payment schedule that provides for monthly, pre-determined payments which are invoiced at the beginning of the month.  They indicate invoice payment terms of 60 days, and we would attempt to reduce that by virtue of asking for advanced payments or offering discounts.  

The solicitation is unusual in that it does not allow pre-award site surveys.  Site surveys are conducted after the award which, in theory, allows for submission of change in scope requests based upon the actual conditions the contractor encounters.  We believe this provides a bit of an insurance policy.  There is pressure to get these systems installed which would, in theory, aid the contractor in negotiating such changes.
Gene Renzi is currently submitting another proposal to NATO for Telephone/Computer Network Infrastructure Services.  This is approximately a $10 Million bid and a breakdown is enclosed to indicate the type of product that is offered.  We believe we have the ability to estimate this type of program in this environment because of our previous experience in Afghanistan.

The longer-term issue and the reason for our high level of interest in these programs is the concept that NATO forces will move into Iraq and Afghanistan as America draws down.  There will be a requirement to continue to service all of the communication systems that have been installed in these countries including the ones that we provided.  We see this as a tremendous potential market for a trusted contractor with knowledge and experience in these regions.  That is why we are approaching this market aggressively although, on the surface, there is additional risk.  All of this could be academic if we are not low bid and NATO does not accept the conditions we contemplate attaching to our bid.

May I have your thoughts on how best to approach this effort?  Does anyone have experience in dealing with NATO?

Please advise.

George

cc:
ManTech International Board of Directors

